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the Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty, 
the Biological Weapons Convention, 
and the Chemical Weapons Convention. 

We must support and adequately fund 
programs like the Cooperative Threat 
Reduction Program, which works with 
the Russian Federation and the states 
of the former Soviet Union to dis-
mantle nuclear warheads, reduce nu-
clear stockpiles and secure nuclear 
weapons in Russia; and we must rep-
licate this successful program in other 
troubled countries like North Korea 
and Iran, because not every country 
will proactively choose to give up its 
nuclear program. In the long run, nego-
tiating with other countries will keep 
us much safer than scaring them into 
submission. 
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The Bush doctrine of arrogant nu-
clear proliferation has been tried and it 
has failed. It is time for a new national 
security strategy. 

SMART security defends America by 
relying on the very best of America, 
not relying on her nuclear capabilities, 
but our commitment to peace and free-
dom and our capacity for multilateral 
leadership. SMART security is tough, 
SMART security is pragmatic and pa-
triotic. SMART security is smart and 
it will keep America safe. 

f 

CONGRATULATIONS ON RETIRE-
MENT OF REVEREND PATRICK 
SHANNON 

The SPEAKER pro tempore (Mr. 
GERLACH). Under a previous order of 
the House, the gentleman from Georgia 
(Mr. GINGREY) is recognized for 5 min-
utes. 

Mr. GINGREY. Mr. Speaker, I come 
to the floor tonight congratulating 
Reverend Patrick Smith Shannon on 
his retirement from the Ministry after 
41 years of service. Reverend Shannon 
presided over three different churches 
in the congressional district I rep-
resent in western Georgia, including 
the LaGrange First United Methodist 
Church in Troup County from 1968 to 
1971, the Villa Rica United Methodist 
Church in Douglas County from 1971 to 
1977, and the Smyrna United Methodist 
Church in Cobb County from 2001 to 
2004. 

Although Reverend Shannon is retir-
ing from an active Ministry, he will 
never retire in his unwavering service 
to God. Blessed with a loving wife, Pa-
tricia, two children, Tim and Heidi, 
and four grandsons, Reverend Shan-
non’s journey through life has yielded 
countless stories and life experiences 
which he has used to share the wisdom 
of Christ and the value of faith. 

He went to Young Harris College, to 
Georgia State University, and obtained 
a Masters of Divinity from Emory in 
1965. Born in Thomasville, Georgia, and 
raised in East Point, Reverend Shan-
non is a true Georgian to the very core. 

Reverend Shannon is a servant of 
God, blessed with the gifts of teaching, 
compassion, and Ministry. He values 

the unity and fellowship of the tradi-
tional community church, where he 
reaches out to Christians and non-
Christians of every age group. I am for-
tunate to have had the privilege of at-
tending a few of Reverend Shannon’s 
services at the First United Methodist 
Church in Smyrna, and have always 
found them to be inspirational. He is a 
true gift to the city and to the State of 
Georgia. We will cherish and appre-
ciate him for years to come. 

On behalf of the constituents of Geor-
gia’s Eleventh Congressional District, I 
appreciate Pat Shannon’s service to 
our spiritual community, and I wish 
him many new journeys in his retire-
ment. 

f 

MIDDLE CLASS SQUEEZE 

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Under a 
previous order of the House, the gentle-
woman from California (Ms. SOLIS) is 
recognized for 5 minutes. 

Ms. SOLIS. Mr. Speaker, tonight I 
rise to bring attention to how prior-
ities of our hard-working American 
families are being crushed under this 
administration’s policies. 

When President Bush first took of-
fice, he had a $236 billion budget sur-
plus, there had been 22 million jobs cre-
ated in the previous 8 years under 
President Clinton, and this country 
was experiencing the biggest drop in 
child poverty in our history. But what 
has changed in the past 4 years since 
Bush took office? Well, today there are 
8.2 million Americans who are looking 
for work, and unemployment rates in 
many parts of our country are at a 
higher rate, almost 30 percent higher, 
than they were 4 years ago. And in my 
district alone, embarrassingly, some 
rates are as high as 9 percent. Plus, to-
day’s job market has lost economic 
value and too many positions that are 
being created are only part-time. 

What this administration has not 
said when it talks about jobs it has cre-
ated is that 90 percent of these new 
jobs since August 2003 are in industries 
that pay an hourly wage that is less 
than the national average. About 1.3 
million of these jobs make an average 
wage of $15 an hour. That is 40 cents 
less than the national average. And it 
is an embarrassment that our own Fed-
eral minimum wage has not been in-
creased. Imagine a family trying to 
survive on making $5.15 an hour, and 
that wage has not gone up for many 
years. 

Clearly, it is not the struggling mid-
dle class families benefiting from the 
Bush administration’s economic poli-
cies. Take a look at California. There 
have been 214,000 people who have lost 
their jobs in my State, and 346,000 were 
in manufacturing jobs alone, good pay-
ing jobs that left. Plus, the jobs that 
are being created in California are pay-
ing less than the jobs that are being 
lost and are less likely to even offer 
health benefits. 

At a time when American families 
are struggling to pay for health care, 

when they are struggling to send their 
kids to college and get food on the 
table, we are sending billions of dollars 
to the very wealthy, 2 percent of our 
population. 

Let us not also forget that the cost of 
gasoline has increased by 62 percent 
under the Bush administration. Cali-
fornians will spend $2.35 billion more 
for gas this summer. That means per 
family $210 just for driving around in 
the summer. Gas in my district is now 
being sold at $2.39 a gallon. But instead 
of doing things to help working fami-
lies, the Republican-led Congress spent 
last week debating energy bills that 
will do nothing to help working fami-
lies cope with these outrageous energy 
costs, including trying to negotiate 
lower gas prices. 

This administration even said that 
because of the bill’s passage last week 
on so-called energy relief, our gasoline 
prices will actually go up by 3 cents. 
The administration would rather try to 
hide its relations with the oil industry 
than seek real productive ways to help 
our consumers. In California, gas prices 
went up faster than the Federal Trade 
Commission anticipated they could and 
companies rolled in the dough. Exxon 
Mobile reported a 125 percent increase 
in profits for the first 3 months of this 
year. 

When the Bush administration 
claims they are concerned about the fi-
nancial pressures of middle-income 
families, I would ask them, what are 
they doing to address the fact that the 
price of gasoline has increased 62 per-
cent under this administration? Across 
the board, Americans are spending 
more on food, on health care, on edu-
cation and gas. President Bush has 
done nothing to change his economic 
policies to consider the real needs of 
the American public. 

Let us start fighting for a real plan 
that is just, that is Democratic. 

f 

IRAQ WATCH 

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Under 
the Speaker’s announced policy of Jan-
uary 7, 2003, the gentleman from Mas-
sachusetts (Mr. DELAHUNT) is recog-
nized for 60 minutes as the designee of 
the minority leader. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, it was 
approximately a year ago, in fact I 
think it was better than a year ago 
now, that myself, a number of my col-
leagues, the gentleman from Pennsyl-
vania (Mr. HOEFFEL), the gentleman 
from Washington (Mr. INSLEE), the gen-
tleman from Ohio (Mr. STRICKLAND), 
and, of course, the gentleman from Ha-
waii (Mr. ABERCROMBIE) took to the 
floor to express our concerns about 
what was transpiring in the Middle 
East, with a special focus on Iraq. We 
have done that on a rather regular 
basis over the course of the past year, 
and we have come to call this hour the 
‘‘Iraq Watch,’’ where we have a discus-
sion among ourselves for the benefit of 
those that are viewing our conversa-
tion through C–SPAN. 
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At the very beginning, we expressed 

our concern that American credibility 
was at stake, as well, of course, as pro-
viding an opportunity to observe the 
competence of this White House in 
terms of its conduct of the war in Iraq. 
And, tragically, unfortunately, many 
of our concerns have materialized. 

I think every American remembers 
rather clearly the multiple statements, 
not just from the President and the 
Vice President, but from every single 
official representing the administra-
tion, whether from the Department of 
Defense, the Department of State, 
clearly from the White House, wherein 
they articulated the rationale for the 
military intervention in Iraq based on 
two particular concerns. One, of 
course, was expressed by the President 
and others when he continued to state 
that Saddam Hussein possessed weap-
ons of mass destruction and that a nu-
clear weapons program was underway 
and that at any time we could be faced 
with the vision of a mushroom cloud 
somewhere in the world, specifically in 
the United States. 

Well, I think there is a consensus 
among the American people and among 
Members of this institution, as well as 
a number of members of the adminis-
tration that that particular basis for 
the military intervention in Iraq, the 
concern about weapons of mass de-
struction, did not materialize, and that 
the intelligence was faulty. 

It was the former United Nations’ in-
spector, David Kay, who received plau-
dits and kudos and respect, and deserv-
edly so, from Members on both sides of 
the aisle, when he was designated by 
this administration to travel to Iraq 
and to develop a cadre of experts to as-
sist him in the discovery of where 
those weapons of mass destruction 
were located. 

I am sure many Americans remember 
the Secretary of Defense, Donald 
Rumsfeld, indicating that we knew 
where those weapons were; that they 
were around the Tikrit area and out-
side of Baghdad. Well, of course, again, 
that intelligence did not produce the 
location, and the statement of Mr. Kay 
later was that Saddam Hussein did not 
have weapons of mass destruction. In 
fact, he did not have a nuclear weapons 
program. 

In testimony before the Senate Com-
mittee on Foreign Relations, he made a 
statement that was emblazoned on the 
front page of Newsweek Magazine, 
which has been repeated again and 
again, and that statement was: ‘‘We 
were all wrong.’’ ‘‘We were all wrong.’’ 
There was also a statement from a 
newspaper published in Great Britain 
that I think is worth repeating, and it 
is a statement made by David Kay. 
‘‘The former chief inspector warned 
yesterday that the United States is in 
grave danger of destroying its credi-
bility at home and abroad if it doesn’t 
own up to the mistakes it’s made in 
Iraq.’’ 

b 2015 
And while there has been some ac-

knowledgment that the weapons of 
mass destruction that purportedly ex-
isted in Iraq are not there, there never 
has been a definitive statement coming 
from the White House that would sup-
port the conclusion reached by Mr. 
Kay. 

In fact, the Vice President, Mr. CHE-
NEY, stated that the weapons of mass 
destruction might still be found in 
Iraq; and Mr. Kay’s response was, 
‘‘What worries me about Cheney’s 
statement is I think people will hold 
out for a hail Mary pass, delay the in-
evitable, looking back at what went 
wrong and believe we have enough evi-
dence now to say that the intelligence 
process and the policy process,’’ I re-
peat that, ‘‘the policy process that 
used that information did not work at 
the level of effectiveness that we re-
quire in the age that we live in.’’ 

Well, I think all Americans, or most 
Americans, know that there are no 
weapons of mass destruction in Iraq. 

Of course the other most prominent 
rationale for the military intervention 
in Iraq was a purported relationship be-
tween Saddam Hussein and the ter-
rorist organization that we all know so 
well, al Qaeda. 

In fact, in a letter sent to the Speak-
er of the House and the President of 
the Senate just prior to the invasion of 
Iraq and signed by the President, the 
President puts forth in what I would 
submit is rather clear and unequivocal 
terms that, ‘‘I determine,’’ this is 
President Bush, ‘‘that reliance on the 
United States of further diplomatic 
and other peaceful means alone will 
neither adequately protect the na-
tional security of the United States 
against the continuing threat posed by 
Iraq nor likely lead to enforcement of 
all relevant National Security Council 
resolutions regarding Iraq, and acting 
pursuant to the Constitution and the 
public law,’’ which this Congress 
passed authorizing that military inter-
vention, ‘‘is consistent with the United 
States and other countries continuing 
to take the necessary actions against 
international terrorists and terrorist 
organizations, including those na-
tions,’’ the clear implication being the 
nation of Iraq, ‘‘organizations or per-
sons who planned, authorized, com-
mitted or aided the terrorist attacks 
that occurred on September 11, 2001, 
the date of our national tragedy.’’ 

Well, recently a report was issued by 
the so-called 9/11 Commission, which 
was the subject of much debate and dis-
cussion over the course of this past 
weekend. I think it is important to ex-
plore in some detail that report and 
have a conversation about those allega-
tions that were used by this White 
House as a rationale for the invasion of 
Iraq. 

Let me read from the pertinent sec-
tion of the report. The report reviews 
the activities of Osama bin Laden and 
al Qaeda, and now I am quoting from 
the report: ‘‘A small group of al Qaeda 

operatives subsequently traveled to 
Iran and Hezbollah camps in Lebanon 
for training in explosives, intelligence, 
and security. Bin Laden reportedly 
showed particular interest in 
Hezbollah’s truck bombing tactics in 
Lebanon in 1983 that killed 241 United 
States Marines. We have seen strong, 
by indirect, evidence that his organiza-
tion did in fact play some,’’ as yet un-
known, ‘‘role in the Kobar attack.’’ 

Let me repeat that again for empha-
sis. Osama bin Laden went to Iran, 
went to Iran and Hezbollah camps in 
Lebanon, in Lebanon. 

Now, again reading from the report, 
‘‘bin Laden also explored possible co-
operation with Iraq during his time in 
Sudan,’’ in Sudan, ‘‘despite his opposi-
tion to Hussein’s secular regime.’’ Bin 
Laden in fact at one time sponsored 
anti-Saddam Islamists in Iraqi 
Kurdistan. 

The Sudanese to protect their own 
ties with Iraq reportedly persuaded bin 
Laden to cease the support and arrange 
for contacts between Iraq and al Qaeda. 
A senior Iraqi intelligence officer re-
portedly made three visits to Sudan, fi-
nally meeting bin Laden in 1994. This is 
some 3 years after the first gulf war. 
Bin Laden is said to have requested 
space to establish training camps as 
well as assistance in procuring weapons 
but Iraq apparently never responded. 
There have been reports that contacts 
between Iraq and al Qaeda also oc-
curred after bin Laden had returned to 
Afghanistan, but they do not appear to 
have resulted in a collaborative rela-
tionship. Two senior bin Laden associ-
ates have adamantly denied that any 
ties existed between al Qaeda and Iraq. 
We have no credible evidence that Iraq 
and al Qaeda cooperated on attacks 
against the United States. 

Those two senior Iraqi operatives 
were captured. One was captured last 
July. He was a al Anni who reportedly 
had a meeting with Muhammed Atta in 
the Czech Republic, in Prague, back in 
April 2001. Much has been made of that 
particular encounter. Both the CIA and 
the FBI concluded that that meeting 
never occurred. Yet we continue to 
hear it, particularly from the Vice 
President. He cannot let go, it would 
appear. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Would my 
colleague yield for just about a 5-sec-
ond question? 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Of course. 
Mr. BURTON of Indiana. I have heard 

the gentleman’s arguments. I hope my 
good and dear friend from Massachu-
setts will stick around for my response 
to what he has said. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, I am 
looking forward to hearing his re-
sponse. I would be happy to engage. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. We are good 
buddies. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. We are dear friends. 
Mr. BURTON of Indiana. I would like 

the gentleman to hear my response. 
Mr. DELAHUNT. I look forward to 

that. If I am not here in the Chamber, 
that does not mean that I am not 
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watching it on C–SPAN. But I can as-
sure the gentleman we will be back 
here tomorrow night to respond to his 
response and correct any unintentional 
mistakes that he makes in the course 
of his response. 

With that, I yield to the gentleman 
from Pennsylvania. 

Mr. HOEFFEL. I thank the gen-
tleman from Massachusetts for yield-
ing. This may be a breakthrough to-
night. We have, through the 15 months 
that we have been handling the Iraq 
Watch duties on the floor, talked about 
how we would love to be joined by our 
Republican colleagues in a good-faith 
discussion about what is happening in 
Iraq, to discuss the pros and the cons 
and to question one another, talk to 
one another about what is working and 
what is not working. I do not want to 
put anybody on the spot, but I would be 
delighted to have a discussion right 
now. I am sure the gentleman from 
Massachusetts would yield and I would 
yield time to anybody who wanted to 
ask a question or challenge what we 
might have said. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. We can make it a 2- 
hour conversation. I think that would 
be informative and hopefully edu-
cational. 

Mr. HOEFFEL. This is not a chal-
lenge. It is an invitation. 

In any event, I thank the gentleman 
from Massachusetts for talking about 
the whole question of whether or not 
the connection exists between al Qaeda 
and Saddam Hussein, a connection that 
the Vice President has repeatedly in-
voked. At one point the President him-
self tried to straighten out the Vice 
President and said, wait a minute, 
there is no evidence that Saddam Hus-
sein was behind 9/11. Yet the Vice 
President has continued to make this 
accusation, even in the face of the 9/11 
Commission staff report that suggests 
that there was no working relation-
ship, no collaborative relationship be-
tween Saddam Hussein and al Qaeda. 

There is no doubt that the inability 
of the coalition to secure Iraq is a tre-
mendous impediment to everything 
that we are trying to achieve. I cer-
tainly share the goals of President 
Bush in establishing a peaceful and sta-
ble Iraq with a representative govern-
ment, hopefully a flourishing democ-
racy; but that fine goal and all the 
yardsticks leading up to it cannot be 
achieved without security. We are 
going to have no success with recon-
struction, we will not have a legiti-
mate turnover of sovereignty on June 
30 without security. We cannot have 
elections without security. 

I wanted to do something I have not 
done before during Iraq Watch, which 
we started in, I think it was, April 2003. 
I wanted to read a few words that were 
spoken at a rally in Los Angeles on 
June 5 by a young man named Dante 
Zappala. Dante’s brother, Sergeant 
Sherwood Baker, a member of the 
Pennsylvania National Guard, was 
killed in Iraq on April 26, 2004. I have 
met with Sherwood’s parents, Celeste 

and Al Zappala. They gave me a copy 
of their other son’s comments regard-
ing Sherwood Baker’s death. These are 
the words of Dante Zappala. I will have 
them entered into the RECORD. They 
are way too long to read tonight. I 
wanted to read the first paragraph and 
part of the last paragraph of these re-
marks. On June 5, Dante Zappala said 
of his brother Sherwood Baker: 

‘‘The tragedy that touches so many 
people in so many corners of the world, 
the tragedy of war, the tragedy of vio-
lence and sudden death, touched me on 
April 26 when my brother, Sergeant 
Sherwood Baker, was killed in an ex-
plosion in Baghdad. I speak today with 
my voice and with the voice of the 
countless others who have suffered per-
sonal loss as a result of this war, those 
many people with no microphone in 
front of them, those many people with 
no one to listen to their pain. As big 
brothers do, Sherwood protected me, he 
carried me, and he taught me.’’ 

Dante went on to express his frustra-
tions with our policy in Iraq and then 
he ended his statement with the fol-
lowing: 

‘‘We do not benefit from the deaths of 
our soldiers, nor do we benefit from the 
deaths of the Iraqi people. To honor 
Sherwood, I have vowed to follow his 
path, to lift my head and go to work. 
Our duty is to spread truth. Our duty is 
to combat the lies, the misrepresenta-
tions, the fear, the mongering and the 
people who mean to ruin our belief in 
this country. I have made a promise to 
my brother and that is to do as he 
would do, to not be angry about my 
circumstances, to not let bitterness 
overcome my heart, but to proceed 
with hope. 

b 2030 

‘‘Today and in the days ahead, do not 
let your anger carry you. Allow your 
desire to make change carry you. 
Allow the compassion towards human-
ity to carry you. Ride your commit-
ment to peace. Share your soul with 
your country. Share your values with 
the world. Make it your job.’’ 

Mr. Speaker, I find these words re-
markable. A family devastated by the 
loss of a son and brother, and yet this 
brother, speaking in Los Angeles, call-
ing upon the better sides of our nature, 
calling upon all of us to put anger and 
frustration aside and to talk about 
compassion toward humanity. 

The pain that so many American 
families have suffered as a result of 
this war is immense. The sacrifices 
that the armed services have made, the 
men and women, the loss of life has 
been tragic. I am sure it is true to say 
that they were proud to serve and in 
virtually all cases proud to honor their 
country, were there because they want-
ed to be there, and made a magnificent 
sacrifice to try to bring peace and sta-
bility to Iraq. What angers me, and I 
try to be inspired by Danta Zappala 
and not resort to anger, but what an-
gers me, though, is the continuous rep-
utations, he referenced them in his 

statement, the continued attempts to 
connect the Saddam Hussein regime 
with 9–11, a connection that is bogus, a 
connection that the gentleman just 
said was not made by the CIA, denied 
by the FBI, and yet the Vice President 
continues to want to use that non-
existent connection as a justification 
for taking us to war with half truths 
and with deceptions. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, again, 
I think it is absolutely critical to un-
derstand that there is no one that is 
unhappy with the removal of Saddam 
Hussein from power. But the question 
that we are posing here tonight is the 
allegation that there was a collabo-
rative relationship between al Qaeda 
and the Saddam Hussein Iraqi regime. 
And what we are talking about is the 
credibility of the White House, the 
President, and, therefore, the United 
States. 

As I said earlier, we discovered what 
happened when it came to the issue of 
weapons of mass destruction, and here 
we are again, even after the report by 
the 9–11 Commission, even after a 
statement by David Kay, not only re-
lating to the issue of weapons of mass 
destruction, but the relationship be-
tween al Qaeda and Saddam Hussein. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Mr. Speak-
er, will the gentleman yield? 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I yield to the gen-
tleman from Indiana. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Mr. Speak-
er, I do not know if my colleague has 
read anything that Lee Hamilton, the 
Democrat co-chairman of the 9–11 Com-
mission, had to say on the News Hour 
with Jim Lehrer on June 16, just last 
week, 2004. Let me read what Lee Ham-
ilton said: ‘‘We have solid reporting of 
senior-level contacts between Iraq and 
al Qaeda going back a decade. Credible 
information indicates that Iraq and al 
Qaeda discussed safe haven and recip-
rocal nonaggression. Since ‘‘Operation 
Enduring Freedom,’’ we have solid evi-
dence of the presence in Iraq of al 
Qaeda members, including some that 
have been in Baghdad. And then Chair-
man Kean of the committee, along 
with Chairman Hamilton, said that 
there definitely were a number of con-
tacts. Chairman Kean called these con-
tacts shadowy, and the administration 
agrees with them. These were contacts 
between a deadly terrorist organization 
that was seeking support in a country 
that the administration knew had sup-
ported other terrorist operations. 

So to say that nothing was going on, 
I mean they did not meet to have tea 
and crumpets. They did not meet just 
to have an ice cream sundae. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, I look 
forward to this continuing conversa-
tion this evening. Again, the report re-
fers to contacts that were made back 
in 1994. If we talk about contacts, it 
was the Bush administration, the Bush 
One administration, that had contacts 
with Saddam Hussein that dated back 
from 1982 when he was removed from 
the terrorist list, when there was an 
embassy installed in Baghdad, when we 
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provided him with intelligence, when 
we provided him with the ingredients 
for weapons of mass destruction, when 
we transferred to him, when we trans-
ferred to him, dual-use technologies. 

I have a chart behind me that would 
establish without any doubt whatso-
ever, it is a CRS report, that in the 
1980s, we had multiple contacts, and we 
should not be surprised that in 1990, it 
was discovered that he had a nuclear 
weapons program because it was the 
then-Bush administration and its pred-
ecessor that provided the components 
to do exactly that. The contacts that 
the gentleman from Indiana refers to 
occurred in 1994, and it was as a result 
of a request from the government of 
Sudan, where Osama bin Laden was liv-
ing. The Iraqi official that visited Sad-
dam Hussein heard what he had to say, 
returned to Iraq, and there was no fur-
ther contact. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Mr. Speak-
er, will the gentleman yield? 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I continue to yield 
to the gentleman from Indiana (Mr. 
BURTON). 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Mr. Speak-
er, since we are going back in history, 
let me just say that we had the attack 
on the World Trade Center the first 
time in 1993; in 1996 we had the Khobar 
Towers; in 1998, we had embassy at-
tacks in Nairobi; in 2000, we had the 
USS Cole, all during the previous ad-
ministration. And during that time 
when Osama bin laden was in the 
Sudan, there were 13 known-terrorist 
training camps under his control, and 
the CIA reported those to the previous 
administration, and nothing was done 
about it. 

So when we start talking about this 
administration’s being asleep at the 
switch, the fact is that President Bush, 
when he took over, decided to do some-
thing about it because there were con-
tacts between al Qaeda and Saddam 
Hussein. Uday Hussein had one of the 
leaders of al Qaeda just last year in 
Baghdad for medical treatment. They 
had a very close relationship. 

So my question to my colleagues is 
this: Why did the previous administra-
tion not, when they knew there were 13 
terrorist training camps in the Sudan, 
they knew that Osama bin Laden was 
there, they knew that the CIA had 
talked about it and said let us go in 
and get him, and they did not do a dog-
gone thing after all these attacks on 
U.S. installations? 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, I yield 
to the gentleman from Washington 
(Mr. INSLEE). 

Mr. INSLEE. Mr. Speaker, I will give 
the gentleman a nonanswer answer. 
The nonanswer is we could pose an-
other question, which is why did the 
first President Bush not go in and 
eliminate Saddam Hussein when he had 
that information as well? And that is 
an interesting historical issue, but it is 
one that is not pertinent to why I came 
here tonight, and I would like to ad-
dress that issue. 

I think the issue is that Congress has 
a responsibility to fulfill now, which is 

to hold the administration accountable 
if, in fact, it created a false impression 
in the American people. And this is an 
interesting academic issue, whether it 
was contacts or collaboration or some-
thing more, but the bottom line is the 
President enjoyed some popular sup-
port for this war based on two pillars: 
the first pillar being his assertion that 
Saddam had weapons of mass destruc-
tion, and that has now by and large 
been shown to be a falsehood; and the 
second pillar was that Saddam Hussein 
was responsible for killing over 2,000 
Americans on September 11. 

And that was the impression that 
this President created. In fact, in a poll 
taken in September, 2003, 69 percent of 
Americans said they believed Saddam 
Hussein was personally involved in the 
attacks. 

Here is the question I have, and then 
I will answer it: Where did 69 percent of 
the American people get the impres-
sion that Saddam Hussein was person-
ally involved in the attacks of Sep-
tember 11? Did they get it from just 
reading The New York Times? I do not 
think so. Did they get it just watching 
Dan Rather? I do not think so. Did 
they get it from reading the penny 
press at home? I do not think so. They 
got it from President George Bush, who 
did everything possible to create the 
impression that Iraq was associated 
with the attack, an ally, in the attack 
of September 11. 

Why do I say that? Because that is 
the language President Bush used. On 
May 1, 2003, he said: ‘‘The liberation of 
Iraq is a crucial advance in the cam-
paign against terror. We have removed 
an ally of al Qaeda and cut off a source 
of terrorist funding.’’ 

The interesting thing that I chal-
lenge anyone to show me, the Sep-
tember 11 Commission reached what 
appears to me to be a factual conclu-
sion. It appears to me to be the most 
rational conclusion I think we can 
make on the evidence we have. They 
said: ‘‘We have no credible evidence 
that Iraq and al Qaeda cooperated on 
attacks against the United States.’’ 
That is what they said. I believe that is 
most likely to be true. 

When did President George Bush ever 
say we have no credible evidence that 
al Qaeda cooperated on attacks against 
the United States? When the President 
of the United States was urging an-
other war, a preemptive attack on an-
other country, without significant 
international assistance, and when he 
would believe that if a misimpression 
was created by the American public, it 
could lead to the wrong conclusion, did 
this President come forward and say 
the truth, which was there may have 
been some contacts, some discussions, 
between al Qaeda and Saddam Hus-
sein’s agents, they were way back in 
1994, there was no active collaboration 
that took place, but I want to make 
sure the American people understand 
this one central tenet, because I want 
to make sure there is no confusion 
here: As far as we know, Saddam Hus-

sein was not behind the attacks on 
September 11, and I do not want any-
body starting a war based on this false 
impression. 

Did the President of the United 
States ever level with the American 
people and say that? No, he did not. 
This was an impression that he knew 
he was creating. If the Members would 
go see the movie the ‘‘Flim-Flam 
Man,’’ starring George C. Scott, it was 
about a great guy who understood how 
to create impressions to get people to 
take action. And there was an impres-
sion created that Iraq was responsible 
for the deaths of over 2,000 Americans. 
And it is most unfortunate. 

The reason we have come here to-
night is to talk about the fact that it 
is unhealthy for a democracy, for a 
President to create false impressions 
that end in war, and this President cre-
ated two massive false impressions. 
One that this demonic monster, Sad-
dam Hussein, who we all agree on a bi-
partisan basis is a demonic monster, 
had weapons of mass destruction and 
that we were threatened with a mush-
room cloud; and the second, he allowed 
69 percent of the Americans to believe 
that Saddam was the one who attacked 
us, and that is an undemocratic action, 
and it is wrong, and he ought to be held 
accountable for it. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, if I 
could, because I want to respond to my 
friend from Indiana, because I know 
that he holds in high regard David Kay, 
who was selected by the administration 
to go to Iraq and review the various as-
sertions and the concerns that they 
had about weapons of mass destruction 
as well as a relationship between Sad-
dam Hussein and al Qaeda, and this is 
a statement that appeared today in 
fact in The Boston Globe and it quotes 
David Kay: ‘‘’At various times al Qaeda 
people came through Baghdad and in 
some cases resided there,’ said David 
Kay, former head of the CIA’s Iraq sur-
vey group, which searched for Iraqi 
weapons of mass destruction and links 
to terrorism, ’but we simply did not 
find any evidence of extensive links 
with al Qaeda or, for that matter, any 
real links at all.’ ’’ 

b 2045 

He was referencing the statement by 
the Vice President. Again, ‘‘CHENEY’s 
speech is evidence-free,’’ Kay said. ‘‘It 
is an assertion, but does not say why 
we should believe this now.’’ 

Mr. Speaker, I yield to my friend, the 
gentleman from Pennsylvania (Mr. 
HOEFFEL). 

Mr. HOEFFEL. Mr. Speaker, I thank 
the gentleman for yielding. 

I wanted to thank our friend from In-
diana for jumping into this discussion. 
We have been looking for some bipar-
tisan debate back and forth; and the 
gentleman, if nothing else, has the 
courage of his convictions; and we wel-
come him here tonight. 

I wanted to respond to a couple 
things the gentleman from Indiana 
(Mr. BURTON) said. I think he said that 
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we were suggesting George Bush has 
been asleep at the switch in Iraq. That 
is not at all what we have been sug-
gesting here. President Bush has been 
anything but asleep at the switch. He 
has been very aggressive regarding 
Iraq. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. If I may reclaim my 
time, the reality is that this adminis-
tration, a week after the inauguration, 
according to a very fine Republican by 
the name of Paul O’Neill, former Sec-
retary of the Treasury, had an exten-
sive discussion about Iraq at the first 
meeting of the National Security Coun-
cil and why it should be targeted. 

I have a long list of quotes from ad-
ministration officials and others that 
were there that can provide firsthand 
evidence. What I found particularly 
disturbing, however, according to Paul 
O’Neill, a good, fine, conservative Re-
publican who was the CEO of a fine 
American corporation called Alcoa, 
was that on February 27, months before 
9/11, at a National Security Council 
meeting, there was a map laid out; and 
there was a discussion among the prin-
cipals about how the oil fields in Iraq 
would be divvied up between nations 
and between various corporations. I 
commend to my friend, and I know he 
must have a copy of that book, it is 
called ‘‘The Price of Loyalty.’’ 

On page 96, I will not bore him and 
those who are watching us here tonight 
with reading it, but I believe somebody 
owes the American people and this 
Congress, Republicans and Democrats, 
an explanation of why months before 
9/11, months before 9/11, months before 
there was any discussion about weap-
ons of mass destruction or links, if you 
will, between al Qaeda and Saddam 
Hussein, we are talking about war. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. If the gen-
tleman will yield briefly, Condoleezza 
Rice, the Vice President and a whole 
host of National Security Council 
members were at that meeting. The 
gentleman to whom you are referring 
is sour grapes because he lost his job as 
Secretary of the Treasury. Their inter-
pretation and their recall of that meet-
ing does not jibe with that at all. That 
is his singular opinion. 

So let me just say that one person’s 
comment at a meeting does not make 
it so. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I would remind my 
friend from Indian of the 11th amend-
ment. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. What is 
that? 

Mr. DELAHUNT. That Republicans 
do not criticize Republicans. I will 
have to defend Paul O’Neill. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. That is the 
gentleman’s prerogative. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Again, because we 
have a good discussion going here to-
night, I think it is important for all 
those that are watching, because we 
will chew right into our friend’s time 
too, I think it is important here to-
night that the American people under-
stand that this is good discourse. This 
is the kind of debate that this institu-
tion needs. 

Despite the fact that we have dis-
parate views and profound disagree-
ments, the reality is that we do have 
mutual respect, and in the case of the 
gentleman from Indiana (Mr. BURTON) 
we have affection. 

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. I think the gen-
tleman from Indiana missed that last 
comment. You might want to repeat it. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I am not going to 
repeat the praise I gave to the gen-
tleman from Indiana (Mr. BURTON). 
Only once he gets the kudos. 

While the gentleman might disagree 
with Paul O’Neill, the former Sec-
retary of the Treasury who was ap-
pointed, obviously, by this President, I 
wonder if he disagrees with an observa-
tion or an anecdote that was related by 
Bob Woodward just recently in the 
book that is on, I understand, the 
President’s Web site, where, again, I 
am quoting from the book. I do not 
want in any way to infer that this is 
coming from me or any of my Demo-
cratic colleagues. 

But in response to this desire for war 
against Iraq, Bob Woodward writes, 
‘‘Powell thought that CHENEY had the 
fever. The Vice President and 
Wolfowitz kept looking for the connec-
tion between Hussein and September 
11th. It was a separate little govern-
ment that was out there. Wolfowitz, 
Libby, Undersecretary of Defense 
Douglas Feith and Feith’s gestapo of-
fice, as Powell privately called it. CHE-
NEY now had an unhealthy fixation. 
Nearly every conversation or reference 
came back to al Qaeda and trying to 
nail down the connection with Iraq. He 
would often have an obscure piece of 
intelligence. Powell thought that CHE-
NEY,’’ Powell not, not O’Neill, ‘‘took 
intelligence and converted uncertainty 
and ambiguity into fact. A conversa-
tion would suggest something might be 
happening, and CHENEY would convert 
that into a we know. Powell,’’ not 
O’Neill, ‘‘Powell concluded we didn’t 
know and no one knew.’’ 

Mr. Speaker, I yield to the gentleman 
from Hawaii (Mr. ABERCROMBIE). 

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. Mr. Speaker, I 
wonder if I could prevail upon my good 
friend, the gentleman from Indiana 
(Mr. BURTON), who, I might say this 
evening is in sartorial splendor, as well 
as a good friend, if we might prevail 
upon him to maybe come back at an-
other time when we can have a con-
versation on this, because it is vital to 
America’s interests. 

I know the gentleman from Indiana 
(Mr. BURTON) has spent his entire con-
gressional career addressing precisely 
that. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. If the gen-
tleman will yield further, I will be 
happy to do that, if you ever give me 
some macadamia nuts. 

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. I will be happy 
to do that. 

Mr. HOEFFEL. Mr. Speaker, if the 
gentleman will yield, back to the gen-
tleman from Indiana (Mr. BURTON), I 
just wanted to respond finally to the 
gentleman’s suggestion that the prior 

administration, the Clinton adminis-
tration, had not done enough after sev-
eral acts of terror against this country. 

The act of terror on 9/11 did change 
the thinking of a lot of people. But if 
you will recall, in August of 1998, Presi-
dent Clinton did order cruise missile 
strikes in Sudan as a result of some of 
the acts of terror; and the Republican 
opponents in the Congress of the Presi-
dent at that time did not accuse him of 
doing too little; they accused him of 
doing too much. There was a great par-
tisan uproar that President Clinton 
was trying to distract the public from 
his impeachment woes with the use of 
American military power. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Mr. Speak-
er, if the gentleman will yield, let me 
just say according to most news re-
ports that was not a factory for weap-
ons of mass destruction, as was antici-
pated, it was an aspirin factory; and 
there was no reason for it. There were 
a lot of people, including the media, 
that thought it was a ‘‘wag the tail’’ 
type of attack. 

Mr. HOEFFEL. I would say to the 
gentleman that the fact is the Repub-
lican opposition at that time was in 
full throat, and the criticism was not 
that he should be doing more; but that 
he was doing too much, in the view of 
his critics. 

I raise the point in good faith. I was 
not in the Congress then, and the gen-
tleman may or may not have been in-
volved at that point at that time. It 
shows you when there is too much par-
tisanship I think that it clouds the 
judgment. It probably affected Presi-
dent Clinton. He probably did not 
think he could have congressional sup-
port if he took more action at that 
time. I do not know. 

I would suggest that there is a time 
when the level of partisanship can rise 
so high that it can cloud the judgment 
of the government to act in a concerted 
way. I do not want to see that happen. 

There is a lot of frustration about 
Iraq and a lot of opposition to what 
many of us think are the deceptions 
and the half-truths that have been 
used. The gentleman from Massachu-
setts (Mr. DELAHUNT) came today to 
try to talk about that, and I welcome 
the bipartisan discussion tonight; but 
we have got to try to get past the bi-
partisan anger. 

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. Mr. Speaker, if 
the gentleman will continue to yield, I 
think what is important here then to 
get across this evening is that calling 
people to account is what we do. The 
oversight function of the Congress has 
a long history. I can go back to the 
time in which some people wonder how 
Harry Truman got to be chosen as Vice 
President of the United States just 
prior to Franklin Roosevelt’s death, 
before his last campaign. Of course, he 
had made his reputation on an over-
sight committee in the Senate looking 
into war profiteering, is what he had 
done, trying to hold people to account. 
That is what this is all about. 

If someone wants to take up the posi-
tion that this is a concentration on 
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President Bush for partisan activity, 
he is the President. He is making the 
decisions, and those decisions are sub-
ject to scrutiny. 

As the gentleman from Indiana (Mr. 
BURTON) very well knows, back at the 
time when Mr. Clinton made decisions 
about Bosnia and Kosovo, I found my-
self in opposition to him and said so. I 
think at least as far as this Member is 
concerned, I do not have to take a back 
seat to anybody in trying to bring any-
body to account in the executive, Dem-
ocrat or Republican, if I think that is 
in order. 

If I know my friend, the gentleman 
from Indiana (Mr. BURTON), well, and I 
think I do, he does not stand for any-
body telling him who should be 
brought to account either. He has 
stood up on more than one occasion, 
perhaps even singularly, calling for an 
accounting on various issues. I think 
that is his function and our function, 
and that is what this Iraq Watch is all 
about, I can guarantee you that. If we 
think somebody is doing the right 
thing, we are going to say so; if we 
think somebody is not acting nec-
essarily in the best interests of the 
United States, regardless of what their 
motivation might be, it is up to us to 
say so and engage in a dialogue to try 
to illuminate where the interests of the 
American people are. 

I know that the gentleman from Indi-
ana (Mr. BURTON) agrees with that, and 
I look forward to any discussion we 
might have in the future along those 
lines. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, re-
claiming my time, I think it is impor-
tant to note that. Again, I am not sure 
about whether it was an aspirin fac-
tory, but I think what is really impor-
tant is the point that the gentleman 
from Hawaii (Mr. ABERCROMBIE) just 
made about oversight. 

It is clear that there are no weapons 
of mass destruction. It is clear that the 
kind of relationship that has been sug-
gested by the administration, particu-
larly the Vice President and the Presi-
dent, does not exist. It is, I dare say, 
hurting our credibility. 

We come to this as Americans. You 
know that, I know that, and we all 
know that. And this information comes 
from a variety of sources, whether it be 
from Bob Woodward, who describes a 
conversation that Secretary Powell 
has, or whether it is Paul O’Neill. 

In the case of Richard Clarke, the 
terrorist chief, in the aftermath of 9/11, 
he writes in his book he expected the 
administration to focus its military re-
sponse on Osama bin Laden and al 
Qaeda. He says he was surprised that 
the talk quickly turned to Iraq. 
‘‘Rumsfeld was saying that we needed 
to bomb Iraq,’’ Clark said, ‘‘and we all 
said no, no. Al Qaeda is in Afghanistan. 
We need to bomb Afghanistan. And 
Rumsfeld said, there aren’t any good 
targets in Afghanistan, and there are a 
lot of good targets in Iraq. 

‘‘Well, there are a lot of good targets 
in lots of places, but Iraq had nothing 

to do with 9/11. Initially I thought 
when he said there are not enough tar-
gets in Afghanistan, I thought he was 
joking. They wanted to believe there 
was a connection, but the CIA was sit-
ting at that particular meeting, and 
the FBI was sitting there, and I was 
sitting there, and we looked at the 
issue for years, and we reached a con-
clusion that there was no connection.’’ 

The point is, let it go. To follow the 
admonition of David Kay, it is time to 
acknowledge our mistakes as a Nation 
and to begin to restore some of our 
credibility internationally. 

I yield to the gentleman from Wash-
ington (Mr. INSLEE). 

b 2100 
Mr. INSLEE. Mr. Speaker, I would 

like to make a comment. I want to 
pose a important question to the gen-
tleman from Indiana (Mr. BURTON) if he 
could help us out. 

My comment is on the difference be-
tween connection and action and col-
laboration. I do not think there is any 
question that there had been some 
communication between al-Qaeda and 
some Iraqi officials. I think we all 
agree on that, and have for a long pe-
riod of time. The September 11 Com-
mission reported that back in 1994, bin 
Laden had essentially asked for help 
from Iraq but Iraq said no deal. We are 
not going to help you. 

And from that, the September 11 
Commission concluded, a bipartisan 
commission concluded there had been 
no collaboration and there had been no 
active work between the two. In fact, 
the two highest bin Laden associates 
we have in custody have adamantly de-
nied that any ties existed between al- 
Qaeda and Iraq. 

I think an accurate picture that has 
been stated is that there were some 
contacts and that bin Laden had asked 
for help and Iraq had refused to give 
him help. And yet the President start-
ed this war. Now, the question I have is 
what was the President trying to do in 
this conversation with the American 
people? It appears to me that he was 
trying to create an impression in the 
American people that Iraq was behind 
the attack of September 11. Let me 
give you just one quote that fits into 
that impression. On September 14, 2003, 
Vice President CHENEY said ‘‘If we are 
successful in Iraq, then we will have 
struck a major blow right at the heart 
of the base, if you will, the geographic 
base of the terrorists who have had us 
under assault now for many years, but 
most especially on 9/11.’’ 

That is just one of hundreds of state-
ments made by this administration 
that to me was responsible for creating 
an impression in at least 69 percent of 
the American people that Iraq was be-
hind it and that this was pay-back 
time. In fact, I remember seeing a tank 
as it entered Baghdad with it was let-
tered on the side ‘‘pay back time.’’ And 
I can understand why soldiers felt that 
way if the President of the United 
States was creating an impression that 
Iraq was responsible for September 11. 

It was not an impression that led this 
country to war that bin Laden had 
asked for help, but Iraq had said no, 
that is not the salient feature that led 
to this war. What led to this war was 
the President succeeding in creating an 
impression in America that Iraq was 
behind this venous and evil attack 
against us on September 11. 

So the question to the gentleman 
from Indiana (Mr. BURTON) if I can ask 
him, just kind of two questions, does 
he share my view that probably a ma-
jority of Americans had the impression 
as the result of its Federal Govern-
ment’s dissemination of information, 
the administration, that Iraq was be-
hind in some fashion, or associated 
with the attack on September 11? 

And if that is true, does he think the 
President of the United States did 
enough to be candid with the American 
people to tell the American people that 
no, we do not have any evidence of col-
laboration resulting in the attack of 
September 11. Sincere question. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Mr. Speak-
er, the fact of the matter is the Presi-
dent went to war with Iraq because of 
two reasons: One, weapons of mass de-
struction; and two, the threat to secu-
rity in the Middle East and the United 
States of America, and because there 
were indications of a connection be-
tween al-Qaeda and Saddam Hussein. 
And there is documentation even stat-
ed in the 9/11 Commission report or in 
the 9/11 Commission statement. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, re-
claiming my time, if one reviews the 9/ 
11 report, they are very clear that 
there were more connections, more 
connections between Lebanon, between 
Iran and al-Qaeda than there ever were 
between Saddam Hussein and al-Qaeda. 
Al-Qaeda, in fact, Osama bin Laden, in 
1990 right after the invasion of Kuwait, 
went to Saudi Arabia and met with 
Prince Sultan, who was the defense 
minister and said that we have to do 
something about that secularist. Let 
us join forces and destroy Saddam Hus-
sein. He considered Saddam Hussein as 
an apostate, a corrupter of Islam. 

The point is, and again, another re-
port that came out today, Chairman 
Kean, again suggests that the connec-
tions between Pakistan, between Iran 
and Hezbollah, far exceeded the con-
nections between Saddam Hussein and 
al-Qaeda. There was no collaborative 
relationship. We continued to hear 
about al-Qaeda bases in Iraq. They 
were in northern Iraq under the protec-
tion of the no-fly zone. 

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. Mr. Speaker, 
would the gentleman yield? 

All this points up to the fact that 
this is ideologically driven. This has 
nothing to do with those facts. This is 
ideologically driven by people who are 
generally termed neoconservative. I 
am the conservative here. And my col-
league should be the conservative here. 
He is conservative. It is the conserv-
ative position not to get trapped in 
these foreign conflicts, not to go off 
charging around the world to try and 
do these things. 
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The ideology behind this is that Iraq 

was the key to being able to move into 
Syria, being able to move into Iran, 
that this is somehow a defense of the 
Likud version of what is in Israel’s in-
terest. The so-called neoconservatives 
that are behind this ideological thrust 
have wanted this war for years. It is 
not hidden. It is not a conspiracy. It is 
not some kind of subterfuge. It is an 
announced policy and possession philo-
sophically they have had for years. 

The sad part is after Mr. Bush be-
came President, was appointed Presi-
dent, they came into the forefront in 
terms of their appointments in the De-
fense Department where they were able 
to bring their philosophy forward. That 
is what is driving this. That is what 
the President has to face up to. This is 
where his difficulty is. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, I 
know we have very limited time left. 
But I think before we go we should 
wish a happy birthday to our friend and 
colleague from Indiana (Mr. BURTON), 
because it is his 45th birthday today, is 
that correct? 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. 29. 
Mr. DELAHUNT. 29th birthday 

today, I think this has been a very 
good discussion. We really do welcome 
this conversation with my colleague. 
He knows we have respect. 

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Mr. Speak-
er, I hope we have more of these. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I hope we do, too. I 
would issue a challenge to my friend 
because he and I have traveled together 
and it is an experience, and it is a very 
positive experience, but there are peo-
ple that are in the custody of the exec-
utive branch, those so-called senior in-
telligence Iraqi agents, that contin-
ually deny any knowledge whatsoever 
of Iraq or meeting the gentleman that 
allegedly met with Mohammed Atta in 
Prague in the Czech Republic, is in our 
custody. 

Let us challenge together the execu-
tive branch and my colleague, myself, 
and anyone else who wishes to join us, 
go together and exercise the oversight 
responsibility and function of this Con-
gress and interview Mr. Al-Ani and 
make that decision ourselves and come 
back and report to the American peo-
ple. 

f 

IRAQ 
The SPEAKER pro tempore (Mr. 

GERLACH). Under the Speaker’s an-
nounced policy of January 7, 2003, the 
gentleman from Indiana (Mr. BURTON) 
is recognized for 60 minutes as the des-
ignee of the majority leader. 

GENERAL LEAVE 
Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Mr. Speak-

er, I ask unanimous consent that all 
Members may have 5 legislative days 
within which to revise and extend their 
remarks related to this special order. 

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Is there 
objection to the request of the gen-
tleman from Indiana? 

There was no objection. 
Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Mr. Speak-

er, let me just pick up where we left off 

in this last hour. And I appreciate the 
discussion with my colleagues. And if 
we have the time, I will be happy to 
yield to them. It seems like we prob-
ably will have the time. 

There is no question, none at all, 
that al-Qaeda and the Saddam Hussein 
regime and people connected with that 
have met on numerous occasions. 
There is no question that in May of 
2002, Zarqawi, one of the top lieuten-
ants the senior al-Qaeda with bin 
Laden was in Baghdad for medical 
treatment. And Uday Hussein provided 
that. There have been numerous occa-
sions that they have been together. 

Now, the question was Osama bin 
Laden went to Saudi Arabia and he 
said we have got to get rid of this guy 
up there, Saddam Hussein, because he 
does not follow the hard-core Muslim 
line. The fact is Winston Churchill, and 
I hate to go back in history, but he de-
cided to work with Joe Stalin, a com-
munist tyrant who killed 50 million of 
his own countrymen. They asked 
Churchill, ‘‘Why in the world are you 
working with Stalin?’’ He said, ‘‘I 
would go to bed with the devil in order 
to beat Adolph Hitler.’’ 

Osama bin Laden calls us the big 
devil and I believe Osama bin Laden 
was willing to work with Saddam Hus-
sein, who is one of the powerhouses in 
the Middle East, to do everything he 
could to destroy Western civilization 
and the United States. 

Now, we do not know what went on 
in all these meetings. But we do know 
that Osama bin Laden and his minions 
did talk to and work with Saddam Hus-
sein’s people. 

Now, do you err on the side of safety 
or do you not? We knew that Saddam 
Hussein had weapons of mass destruc-
tion. He killed thousands, tens of thou-
sands of Kurds with mustard gas. We 
found weapons just recently that had 
sarin gas in them. Just recently our 
troops found those. He had a nuclear 
facility that was bombed by the 
Israelis in 1981. So he was trying to de-
velop a nuclear facility. 

Now, for anybody to believe that he 
just threw that stuff out of the window 
when he hates the West so much and he 
was negotiating and talking with 
Osama bin Laden and al-Qaeda, I think 
they are just blowing smoke. Now, the 
President said we have got to go after 
the terrorists. He did not go after Sad-
dam Hussein first, he went after the 
Taliban that we knew was working 
with Osama bin Laden in Afghanistan. 
And he did a pretty good job of it. 

And then he said there is the threat 
of weapons of mass destruction, they 
have been used in the past. He had in-
telligence information that indicated 
there were weapons of mass destruc-
tion and he decided to go after Saddam 
Hussein. And all of us in this chamber 
when he did it said that is the right 
thing to do. 

Now, of course, everybody is second 
guessing. 

I think it is important to go back in 
history a little bit because history is 

very important, very important. In the 
1990s Osama bin Laden in the Sudan 
had 13 terrorists training camps around 
Khartoum. Our intelligence agencies 
talked about that. The President and 
the NSC knew about that. And at that 
time, we had an attack on the World 
Trade Center because Osama bin 
Laden’s minions tried to bring it down. 
That was in 1993. In 1996, we had the at-
tack that killed a lot of Americans in 
Khobar Towers. In 1998, we had the at-
tack on the embassies in Athens, 
Nairobi, Kenya and Dar es Salaam and 
Tanzania, all of those in 1998 by al- 
Qaeda connections. And then in 2000, 
we had the attack that killed a lot of 
our sailors on the USS Cole. We knew 
that Saddam Hussein was behind that. 
We knew he was in the Sudan. We knew 
there were 13 terrorist training camps 
and the previous administration did 
nothing. 

Now we go to September 11, 2001. And 
the President had an attack on the 
World Trade Center, against a second 
one. We did not do anything about the 
first one. We did not go after Osama 
bin Laden then but we waited. Then 
they brought down the World Trade 
Center, both towers. 

And the President said we are going 
after the terrorists worldwide, no mat-
ter where they are hiding. We are going 
after them if they are in the Sudan. We 
are going after them if they are in Af-
ghanistan. We are going after them 
under every rock they are hiding. And 
we are going to do it also in Iraq be-
cause we believe Saddam Hussein is 
working with al-Qaeda. He had connec-
tions with al-Qaeda. His son worked 
with al-Qaeda. 

And they had weapons of mass de-
struction because we knew they had 
used them before and the President was 
told by intelligence agencies that they 
were there. Quite frankly, I still be-
lieve there were weapons of mass de-
struction. It is the size of California. 
And I believe that we will find more. 
And many of them may have been sent 
to Syria. Everybody is concerned about 
that because Syria is a very close ally 
and was of Saddam Hussein. 

But the fact of the matter is do you 
err on the side of safety? Do you go 
after the terrorists before they attack 
or do you wait until they attack and 
say oh, we need probable cause. 

When we passed the PATRIOT Act, 
this is a side issue, we had a lot of col-
leagues from the other side of the aisle 
say oh, my gosh, what about civil 
rights? What about Constitutional 
rights? The problem is when one is in a 
world war against terrorists, one can-
not wait until they blow something up 
and kill 10 or 15,000 people or more. One 
tries to preempt them. 

The PATRIOT Act allowed us to hold 
people while we investigated whether 
or not they were going to perpetrate a 
terrorist attack. If we did that, we 
might head it off. That is why we cre-
ated Homeland Security, which my 
committee wrote a great deal of it, and 
I think the gentleman, I do not know if 
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